

SENATE BILL NO. 215—SENATORS WOODHOUSE, MANENDO,
PARKS, SPEARMAN, CANCELA; CANNIZZARO, DENIS, FORD,
RATTI AND SEGERBLOM

FEBRUARY 27, 2017

Referred to Committee on Transportation

SUMMARY—Revises the circumstances under which the holder of a driver’s license or identification card must report a name change to the Department of Motor Vehicles. (BDR 43-673)

FISCAL NOTE: Effect on Local Government: Increases or Newly Provides for Term of Imprisonment in County or City Jail or Detention Facility.
Effect on the State: Yes.

~

EXPLANATION – Matter in *bolded italics* is new; matter between brackets ~~omitted material~~ is material to be omitted.

AN ACT relating to motor vehicles; revising the circumstances under which the holder of a driver’s license or identification card must report a name change to the Department of Motor Vehicles; enacting provisions authorizing the holder of a driver’s license or identification card to request a name change upon the occurrence of certain events; providing a penalty; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

Legislative Counsel’s Digest:

1 Existing law requires an applicant for a driver’s license, instruction permit,
2 driver authorization card, identification card or motorcycle driver’s license to state
3 on the application his or her full legal name, and to furnish proof of his or her full
4 legal name and age. (NRS 483.290, 483.291, 483.850, 483.860, 486.081) The
5 Director of the Department of Motor Vehicles is required to define by regulation
6 the term “full legal name” as the term is used in relation to driver’s licenses,
7 instruction permits, driver authorization cards, identification cards and motorcycle
8 driver’s licenses. (NRS 481.052) A holder of a driver’s license or identification
9 card must report to the Department within 30 days if the holder’s name changes.
10 (NRS 483.390, 483.870) The Department is authorized to charge a fee for such a
11 name change. (NRS 483.410, 483.820)

12 **Section 3** of this bill removes the requirement for the Director of the
13 Department to define the term “full legal name.” **Section 1** of this bill instead



* S B 2 1 5 *

14 defines the term “full name” for the purposes of the sections governing driver’s
15 licenses, instruction permits, driver authorization cards, identification cards and
16 motorcycle driver’s licenses. **Sections 2, 10, 16, 17 and 19** of this bill revise the
17 term “full legal name” to “full name” in various sections relating to the
18 Department. **Sections 12 and 18** of this bill remove the requirement to report a
19 name change to the Department within 30 days. That requirement is reenacted in
20 **section 5** of this bill, which requires a person to request a change of his or her full
21 name on a driver’s license, including a motorcycle driver’s license, within 30 days
22 after a legal change of the person’s name in accordance with a court order,
23 certificate of marriage or a decree of divorce or adoption. The person must submit
24 to the Department an original or certified copy of the order, certificate or decree
25 which indicates the name change. **Section 5** also allows a person whose name has
26 not been legally changed in accordance with an order, certificate or decree to
27 request a change of his or her full name upon adoption, marriage, divorce or the
28 death of a spouse. The person is required to include an original or a certified copy
29 of the certificate or decree evidencing the applicable event and must also provide an
30 affidavit indicating the person’s choice of how his or her name is to be changed.
31 The authority of the Department to charge a fee for the name change is retained.
32 **Section 6** of this bill makes similar changes for the holder of an identification card.
33 Existing law makes a violation of **section 5** a misdemeanor. (NRS 483.530,
34 483.620) **Sections 7-9, 13 and 15** of this bill make conforming changes.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

1 **Section 1.** NRS 481.015 is hereby amended to read as follows:
2 481.015 1. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection,
3 as used in this title, unless the context otherwise requires,
4 “certificate of title” means the document issued by the Department
5 that identifies the legal owner of a vehicle and contains the
6 information required pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 482.245. The
7 definition set forth in this subsection does not apply to chapters 488
8 and 489 of NRS.
9 2. Except as otherwise provided in chapter 480 of NRS, NRS
10 484C.600 to 484C.640, inclusive, 486.363 to 486.377, inclusive,
11 and chapters 486A and 488 of NRS, as used in this title, unless the
12 context otherwise requires:
13 (a) “Department” means the Department of Motor Vehicles.
14 (b) “Director” means the Director of the Department.
15 3. *As used in this title, the term “full name” means a natural*
16 *person’s first name, middle name and family name or last name,*
17 *without the use of initials or a nickname. The term includes a full*
18 *name that has been changed pursuant to the provisions of section*
19 *5 or 6 of this act.*
20 **Sec. 2.** NRS 481.0515 is hereby amended to read as follows:
21 481.0515 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2,
22 the Director shall ensure that whenever a document is required by



1 law to include the name of a person, the document sets forth the full
2 ~~legal~~ name of that person.

3 2. The provisions of this section do not require the Director to
4 alter, amend or otherwise change any documents that were created
5 before October 1, 2003.

6 3. The Director may take any action he or she deems
7 reasonable to facilitate achieving uniformity in the manner in which
8 the documents and records of the Department refer to a particular
9 person by name.

10 4. As used in this section:

11 (a) "Certificate of registration" means the certificate described
12 in subsection 1 of NRS 482.245.

13 (b) "Document" means any:

14 (1) Application or record that a person is required to file with
15 or submit to the Department;

16 (2) Card, certificate or license that the Department issues to a
17 person; and

18 (3) Record that the Department is required to keep or
19 maintain.

20 ➤ The term includes, without limitation, a certificate of registration,
21 certificate of title, driver's license and identification card, and an
22 application or record pertaining to any such certificate, license or
23 card.

24 **Sec. 3.** NRS 481.052 is hereby amended to read as follows:

25 481.052 The Director shall, by regulation, define:

26 1. "Address of principal residence" as the term is used in
27 chapters 483 and 486 of NRS;

28 2. "Conviction" as the term is used in NRS 483.010 to
29 483.630, inclusive ~~4~~, *and section 5 of this act; and*

30 3. ~~"Full legal name" as the term is used in chapters 483 and~~
31 ~~486 of NRS; and~~

32 ~~4~~ "Seasonal resident" as the term is used in chapters 482 and
33 483 of NRS.

34 **Sec. 4.** Chapter 483 of NRS is hereby amended by adding
35 thereto the provisions set forth as sections 5 and 6 of this act.

36 **Sec. 5. 1.** *A person shall request that the Department*
37 *change his or her full name on a driver's license, including a*
38 *motorcycle driver's license, issued by the Department within 30*
39 *days after a legal change of the person's name indicated on:*

40 (a) *An order of a court of competent jurisdiction changing the*
41 *name of the person;*

42 (b) *A decree of adoption;*

43 (c) *A certificate of marriage; or*

44 (d) *A decree of divorce.*

45 2. *A request required pursuant to subsection 1 must:*



1 (a) *Be made on a form prescribed by the Department;*
2 (b) *Include an original or certified copy of the order, decree or*
3 *certificate; and*

4 (c) *Be submitted to the Department not more than 30 days*
5 *after the date the order, decree or certificate is filed with a court of*
6 *competent jurisdiction.*

7 3. *A person may request that the Department change his or*
8 *her full name on a driver's license, including a motorcycle*
9 *driver's license, issued by the Department upon adoption,*
10 *marriage, divorce or the death of a spouse. Such a request must be*
11 *made on a form prescribed by the Department and must include:*

12 (a) *Upon adoption, an original or certified copy of a decree of*
13 *adoption and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the Department*
14 *indicating the person's choice to:*

15 (1) *Change his or her last name to the last name of one of*
16 *his or her adoptive parents;*

17 (2) *Use his or her last name hyphenated with the last name*
18 *of one of his or her adoptive parents; or*

19 (3) *Replace his or her middle name with his or her last*
20 *name and use as his or her last name the last name of one of his*
21 *or her adoptive parents.*

22 (b) *Upon marriage, an original or certified copy of a certificate*
23 *of marriage and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the*
24 *Department indicating the person's choice to:*

25 (1) *Change his or her last name to the last name of his or*
26 *her spouse;*

27 (2) *Use his or her last name hyphenated with the last name*
28 *of his or her spouse; or*

29 (3) *Replace his or her middle name with his or her last*
30 *name and use as his or her last name the last name of his or her*
31 *spouse.*

32 (c) *Upon divorce, an original or certified copy of a decree of*
33 *divorce and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the Department*
34 *indicating the person's choice to:*

35 (1) *Change his or her last name back to the last name he or*
36 *she used before the marriage; or*

37 (2) *If he or she changed his or her name pursuant to*
38 *subparagraph (2) of paragraph (b), change his or her middle*
39 *name and last name back to the middle name and last name he or*
40 *she used before the marriage.*

41 (d) *Upon the death of a spouse, an original or certified copy of*
42 *a certificate of marriage and an original or certified copy of a*
43 *death certificate and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the*
44 *Department indicating the person's choice to:*



1 (1) Change his or her last name back to the name he or she
2 used before the marriage; or

3 (2) If he or she changed his or her name pursuant to
4 subparagraph (2) of paragraph (b), change his or her middle
5 name and last name back to the middle name and last name he or
6 she used before the marriage.

7 4. Upon receipt of a request that meets the requirements of
8 subsection 2 or 3, the Department shall:

9 (a) Change the full name of a person on the driver's license or
10 motorcycle driver's license issued to the person by the
11 Department; and

12 (b) Provide to the person who requested the change a
13 document which evidences that such a change was made pursuant
14 to this section.

15 5. The Department may charge and collect, for a change to a
16 driver's license or motorcycle driver's license pursuant to this
17 section, the fee provided in NRS 483.410.

18 **Sec. 6. 1.** A person must request that the Department
19 change his or her full name on an identification card issued by the
20 Department within 30 days after a legal change of the person's
21 name indicated on:

22 (a) An order of a court of competent jurisdiction changing the
23 name of the person;

24 (b) A decree of adoption;

25 (c) A certificate of marriage; or

26 (d) A decree of divorce.

27 2. A request required pursuant to subsection 1 must:

28 (a) Be made on a form prescribed by the Department;

29 (b) Include an original or certified copy of the order, decree or
30 certificate; and

31 (c) Be submitted to the Department not more than 30 days
32 after the date the order, decree or certificate is filed with a court of
33 competent jurisdiction.

34 3. A person may request that the Department change his or
35 her full name on an identification card issued by the Department
36 upon adoption, marriage, divorce or the death of a spouse. Such a
37 request must be made on a form prescribed by the Department and
38 must include:

39 (a) Upon adoption, an original or certified copy of a decree of
40 adoption and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the Department
41 indicating the person's choice to:

42 (1) Change his or her last name to the last name of one of
43 his or her adoptive parents;

44 (2) Use his or her last name hyphenated with the last name
45 of one of his or her adoptive parents; or



1 (3) *Replace his or her middle name with his or her last*
2 *name and use as his or her last name the last name of one of his*
3 *or her adoptive parents.*

4 (b) *Upon marriage, an original or certified copy of a certificate*
5 *of marriage and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the*
6 *Department indicating the person's choice to:*

7 (1) *Change his or her last name to the last name of his or*
8 *her spouse;*

9 (2) *Use his or her last name hyphenated with the last name*
10 *of his or her spouse; or*

11 (3) *Replace his or her middle name with his or her last*
12 *name and use as his or her last name the last name of his or her*
13 *spouse.*

14 (c) *Upon divorce, an original or certified copy of a decree of*
15 *divorce and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the Department*
16 *indicating the person's choice to:*

17 (1) *Change his or her last name back to the last name he or*
18 *she used before the marriage; or*

19 (2) *If he or she changed his or her name pursuant to*
20 *subparagraph (2) of paragraph (b), change his or her middle*
21 *name and last name back to the middle name and last name he or*
22 *she used before the marriage.*

23 (d) *Upon the death of a spouse, an original or certified copy of*
24 *a certificate of marriage and an original or certified copy of a*
25 *death certificate and an affidavit on a form prescribed by the*
26 *Department indicating the person's choice to:*

27 (1) *Change his or her last name back to the name he or she*
28 *used before the marriage; or*

29 (2) *If he or she changed his or her name pursuant to*
30 *subparagraph (2) of paragraph (b), change his or her middle*
31 *name and last name back to the middle name and last name he or*
32 *she used before the marriage.*

33 4. *Upon receipt of a request that meets the requirements of*
34 *subsection 2 or 3, the Department shall:*

35 (a) *Change the full name of a person on the identification card*
36 *issued to the person by the Department; and*

37 (b) *Provide to the person who requested the change a*
38 *document which evidences that such a change was made pursuant*
39 *to this section.*

40 5. *The Department may charge and collect, for a change to*
41 *an identification card pursuant to this section, the fee provided in*
42 *NRS 483.820.*



1 **Sec. 7.** NRS 483.015 is hereby amended to read as follows:
2 483.015 Except as otherwise provided in NRS 483.330, the
3 provisions of NRS 483.010 to 483.630, inclusive, *and section 5 of*
4 *this act* apply only with respect to noncommercial drivers' licenses.

5 **Sec. 8.** NRS 483.020 is hereby amended to read as follows:
6 483.020 As used in NRS 483.010 to 483.630, inclusive, *and*
7 *section 5 of this act*, unless the context otherwise requires, the
8 words and terms defined in NRS 483.030 to 483.190, inclusive,
9 have the meanings ascribed to them in those sections.

10 **Sec. 9.** NRS 483.220 is hereby amended to read as follows:
11 483.220 The Administrator is authorized to promulgate rules
12 and regulations governing activities of the Department under NRS
13 483.010 to 483.630, inclusive ~~H~~, *and section 5 of this act.*

14 **Sec. 10.** NRS 483.290 is hereby amended to read as follows:
15 483.290 1. An application for an instruction permit or for a
16 driver's license must:

17 (a) Be made upon a form furnished by the Department.
18 (b) Be verified by the applicant before a person authorized to
19 administer oaths. Officers and employees of the Department may
20 administer those oaths without charge.

21 (c) Be accompanied by the required fee.

22 (d) State the full ~~Hegal~~ name, date of birth, sex, address of
23 principal residence and mailing address, if different from the
24 address of principal residence, of the applicant and briefly describe
25 the applicant.

26 (e) State whether the applicant has theretofore been licensed as a
27 driver, and, if so, when and by what state or country, and whether
28 any such license has ever been suspended or revoked, or whether an
29 application has ever been refused, and, if so, the date of and reason
30 for the suspension, revocation or refusal.

31 (f) Include such other information as the Department may
32 require to determine the competency and eligibility of the applicant.

33 2. Every applicant must furnish proof of his or her full ~~Hegal~~
34 name and age by displaying:

35 (a) An original or certified copy of the required documents as
36 prescribed by regulation; or

37 (b) A photo identification card issued by the Department of
38 Corrections pursuant to NRS 209.511.

39 3. The Department shall adopt regulations prescribing the
40 documents an applicant may use to furnish proof of his or her full
41 ~~Hegal~~ name and age to the Department pursuant to paragraph (a) of
42 subsection 2 ~~H~~, *including, without limitation, a document issued*
43 *by the Department pursuant to section 5 or 6 of this act.*

44 4. At the time of applying for a driver's license, an applicant
45 may, if eligible, register to vote pursuant to NRS 293.524.



1 5. Every applicant who has been assigned a social security
2 number must furnish proof of his or her social security number by
3 displaying:

4 (a) An original card issued to the applicant by the Social
5 Security Administration bearing the social security number of the
6 applicant; or

7 (b) Other proof acceptable to the Department, including, without
8 limitation, records of employment or federal income tax returns.

9 6. The Department may refuse to accept a driver's license
10 issued by another state, the District of Columbia or any territory of
11 the United States if the Department determines that the other state,
12 the District of Columbia or the territory of the United States has less
13 stringent standards than the State of Nevada for the issuance of a
14 driver's license.

15 7. With respect to any document presented by a person who
16 was born outside of the United States to prove his or her full ~~legal~~
17 name and age, the Department:

18 (a) May, if the document has expired, refuse to accept the
19 document or refuse to issue a driver's license to the person
20 presenting the document, or both; and

21 (b) Shall issue to the person presenting the document a driver's
22 license that is valid only during the time the applicant is authorized
23 to stay in the United States, or if there is no definite end to the time
24 the applicant is authorized to stay, the driver's license is valid for 1
25 year beginning on the date of issuance.

26 8. The Administrator shall adopt regulations setting forth
27 criteria pursuant to which the Department will issue or refuse to
28 issue a driver's license in accordance with this section to a person
29 who is a citizen of any state, the District of Columbia, any territory
30 of the United States or a foreign country. The criteria pursuant to
31 which the Department shall issue or refuse to issue a driver's license
32 to a citizen of a foreign country must be based upon the purpose for
33 which that person is present within the United States.

34 9. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, the
35 Department shall not accept a consular identification card as proof
36 of the age or identity of an applicant for an instruction permit or for
37 a driver's license. As used in this subsection, "consular
38 identification card" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 232.006.

39 **Sec. 11.** NRS 483.291 is hereby amended to read as follows:

40 483.291 1. An application for an instruction permit or for a
41 driver authorization card must:

42 (a) Be made upon a form furnished by the Department.

43 (b) Be verified by the applicant before a person authorized to
44 administer oaths. Officers and employees of the Department may
45 administer those oaths without charge.



- 1 (c) Be accompanied by the required fee.
- 2 (d) State the name, date of birth, sex and residence address of
3 the applicant and briefly describe the applicant.
- 4 (e) State whether the applicant has theretofore been licensed as a
5 driver, and, if so, when and by what state or country, and whether
6 any such license has ever been suspended or revoked, or whether an
7 application has ever been refused, and, if so, the date of and reason
8 for the suspension, revocation or refusal.
- 9 (f) Include such other information as the Department may
10 require to determine the competency and eligibility of the applicant.
- 11 2. Every applicant must furnish proof of his or her name and
12 age by displaying an original or certified copy of:
- 13 (a) Any one of the following documents:
- 14 (1) A birth certificate issued by a state, a political subdivision
15 of a state, the District of Columbia or any territory of the United
16 States;
- 17 (2) A driver's license issued by another state, the District of
18 Columbia or any territory of the United States which is issued
19 pursuant to the standards established by 6 C.F.R. Part 37, Subparts
20 A to E, inclusive, and which contains a security mark approved by
21 the United States Department of Homeland Security in accordance
22 with 6 C.F.R. § 37.17;
- 23 (3) A passport issued by the United States Government;
- 24 (4) A military identification card or military dependent
25 identification card issued by any branch of the Armed Forces of the
26 United States;
- 27 (5) For persons who served in any branch of the Armed
28 Forces of the United States, a report of separation;
- 29 (6) A Certificate of Degree of Indian Blood issued by the
30 United States Government;
- 31 (7) A Certificate of Citizenship, Certificate of Naturalization,
32 Permanent Resident Card or Temporary Resident Card issued by the
33 United States Citizenship and Immigration Services of the
34 Department of Homeland Security;
- 35 (8) A Consular Report of Birth Abroad issued by the
36 Department of State; ~~†††~~
- 37 (9) *A document issued by the Department pursuant to*
38 *section 5 or 6 of this act; or*
- 39 (10) Such other documentation as specified by the
40 Department by regulation; or
- 41 (b) Any two of the following documents:
- 42 (1) A driver's license issued by another state, the District of
43 Columbia or any territory of the United States other than such a
44 driver's license described in subparagraph (2) of paragraph (a);
- 45 (2) A passport issued by a foreign government;



1 (3) A birth certificate issued by a foreign government;

2 (4) A consular identification card issued by the Government
3 of Mexico or a document issued by another government that the
4 Department determines is substantially similar; or

5 (5) Any other proof acceptable to the Department.

6 ➔ No document which is written in a language other than English
7 may be accepted by the Department pursuant to this subsection
8 unless it is accompanied by a verified translation of the document in
9 the English language.

10 3. Every applicant must prove his or her residence in this State
11 by displaying an original or certified copy of any two of the
12 following documents:

13 (a) A receipt from the rent or lease of a residence located in this
14 State;

15 (b) A record from a public utility for a service address located in
16 this State which is dated within the previous 60 days;

17 (c) A bank or credit card statement indicating a residential
18 address located in this State which is dated within the previous 60
19 days;

20 (d) A stub from an employment check indicating a residential
21 address located in this State;

22 (e) A document issued by an insurance company or its agent,
23 including, without limitation, an insurance card, binder or bill,
24 indicating a residential address located in this State;

25 (f) A record, receipt or bill from a medical provider indicating a
26 residential address located in this State; or

27 (g) Any other document as prescribed by the Department by
28 regulation.

29 4. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 5, a driver
30 authorization card or instruction permit obtained in accordance with
31 this section must:

32 (a) Contain the same information as prescribed for a driver's
33 license pursuant to NRS 483.340 and any regulations adopted
34 pursuant thereto;

35 (b) Be of the same design as a driver's license and contain only
36 the minimum number of changes from that design that are necessary
37 to comply with subsection 5; and

38 (c) Be numbered from the same sequence of numbers as a
39 driver's license.

40 5. A driver authorization card or instruction permit obtained in
41 accordance with this section must comply with the requirements of
42 section 202(d)(11) of the Real ID Act of 2005, Public Law 109-13,
43 Division B, Title II, 119 Stat. 302, 312-15, 49 U.S.C. § 30301 note.

44 6. Notwithstanding the provisions of NRS 483.380, every
45 driver authorization card expires on the anniversary of its issuance



1 or renewal. Every driver authorization card is renewable at any time
2 before its expiration upon application and payment of the required
3 fee. The Department may, by regulation, defer the expiration of the
4 driver authorization card of a person who is on active duty in the
5 Armed Forces of the United States upon such terms and conditions
6 as it may prescribe. The Department may similarly defer the
7 expiration of the driver authorization card of the spouse or
8 dependent son or daughter of that person if the spouse or child is
9 residing with the person.

10 7. A driver authorization card shall not be used to determine
11 eligibility for any benefits, licenses or services issued or provided by
12 this State or its political subdivisions.

13 8. Except as otherwise provided in this section or by specific
14 statute, any provision of this title that applies to drivers' licenses
15 shall be deemed to apply to a driver authorization card and an
16 instruction permit obtained in accordance with this section.

17 **Sec. 12.** NRS 483.390 is hereby amended to read as follows:

18 483.390 Whenever any person after applying for or receiving a
19 driver's license moves from the address named in the application or
20 in the license issued to the person, ~~for when the name of a licensee~~
21 ~~is changed,~~ that person shall within 30 days thereafter notify the
22 Department of his or her new and old addresses ~~[- or of such former~~
23 ~~and new names,]~~ and of the number of any license then held by the
24 person.

25 **Sec. 13.** NRS 483.530 is hereby amended to read as follows:

26 483.530 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, it is
27 a misdemeanor for any person:

28 (a) To display or cause or permit to be displayed or possess any
29 cancelled, revoked, suspended, fictitious, fraudulently altered or
30 fraudulently obtained driver's license;

31 (b) To alter, forge, substitute, counterfeit or use an unvalidated
32 driver's license;

33 (c) To lend his or her driver's license to any other person or
34 knowingly permit the use thereof by another;

35 (d) To display or represent as one's own any driver's license not
36 issued to him or her;

37 (e) To fail or refuse to surrender to the Department, a peace
38 officer or a court upon lawful demand any driver's license which
39 has been suspended, revoked or cancelled;

40 (f) To permit any unlawful use of a driver's license issued to
41 him or her;

42 (g) To do any act forbidden, or fail to perform any act required,
43 by NRS 483.010 to 483.630, inclusive ~~[-],~~ *and section 5 of this act;*
44 or



1 (h) To photograph, photostat, duplicate or in any way reproduce
2 any driver's license or facsimile thereof in such a manner that it
3 could be mistaken for a valid license, or to display or possess any
4 such photograph, photostat, duplicate, reproduction or facsimile
5 unless authorized by this chapter.

6 2. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a person
7 who uses a false or fictitious name in any application for a driver's
8 license or identification card or who knowingly makes a false
9 statement or knowingly conceals a material fact or otherwise
10 commits a fraud in any such application is guilty of a category E
11 felony and shall be punished as provided in NRS 193.130. If the
12 false statement, knowing concealment of a material fact or other
13 commission of fraud described in this subsection relates solely to
14 the age of a person, including, without limitation, to establish false
15 proof of age to game, purchase alcoholic beverages or purchase
16 cigarettes or other tobacco products, the person is guilty of a
17 misdemeanor.

18 **Sec. 14.** NRS 483.620 is hereby amended to read as follows:

19 483.620 It is a misdemeanor for any person to violate any of
20 the provisions of NRS 483.010 to 483.630, inclusive, *and section 5*
21 *of this act*, unless such violation is, by NRS 483.010 to 483.630,
22 inclusive, *and section 5 of this act* or other law of this State,
23 declared to be a felony.

24 **Sec. 15.** NRS 483.820 is hereby amended to read as follows:

25 483.820 1. A person who applies for an identification card in
26 accordance with the provisions of NRS 483.810 to 483.890,
27 inclusive, *and section 6 of this act* and who is not ineligible to
28 receive an identification card pursuant to NRS 483.861, is entitled to
29 receive an identification card if the person is:

30 (a) A resident of this State and is 10 years of age or older and
31 does not hold a valid driver's license or identification card from any
32 state or jurisdiction; or

33 (b) A seasonal resident who does not hold a valid Nevada
34 driver's license.

35 2. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 483.825, the
36 Department shall charge and collect the following fees for the
37 issuance of an original, duplicate or changed identification card:

| | |
|----|--|
| 38 | |
| 39 | An original or duplicate identification card |
| 40 | issued to a person 65 years of age or older..... \$4 |
| 41 | An original or duplicate identification card |
| 42 | issued to a person under 18 years of age |
| 43 | which expires on the eighth anniversary of |
| 44 | the person's birthday 6 |



| | | |
|----|---|-----|
| 1 | A renewal of an identification card for a person | |
| 2 | under 18 years of age which expires on the | |
| 3 | eighth anniversary of the person's birthday | \$6 |
| 4 | An original or duplicate identification card | |
| 5 | issued to a person under 18 years of age | |
| 6 | which expires on or before the fourth | |
| 7 | anniversary of the person's birthday | 3 |
| 8 | A renewal of an identification card for a person | |
| 9 | under 18 years of age which expires on or | |
| 10 | before the fourth anniversary of the person's | |
| 11 | birthday | 3 |
| 12 | An original or duplicate identification card | |
| 13 | issued to any person at least 18 years of age, | |
| 14 | but less than 65 years of age, which expires | |
| 15 | on the eighth anniversary of the person's | |
| 16 | birthday | 18 |
| 17 | A renewal of an identification card for any | |
| 18 | person at least 18 years of age, but less than | |
| 19 | 65 years of age, which expires on the eighth | |
| 20 | anniversary of the person's birthday | 18 |
| 21 | An original or duplicate identification card | |
| 22 | issued to any person at least 18 years of age, | |
| 23 | but less than 65 years of age, which expires | |
| 24 | on or before the fourth anniversary of the | |
| 25 | person's birthday | 9 |
| 26 | A renewal of an identification card for any | |
| 27 | person at least 18 years of age, but less than | |
| 28 | 65 years of age, which expires on or before | |
| 29 | the fourth anniversary of the person's | |
| 30 | birthday | 9 |
| 31 | A new photograph or change of name, or both | 4 |
| 32 | | |

- 33 3. The Department shall not charge a fee for:
- 34 (a) An identification card issued to a person who has voluntarily
- 35 surrendered his or her driver's license pursuant to NRS 483.420; or
- 36 (b) A renewal of an identification card for a person 65 years of
- 37 age or older.
- 38 4. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 483.825, the increase
- 39 in fees authorized in NRS 483.347 must be paid in addition to the
- 40 fees charged pursuant to this section.
- 41 5. As used in this section, "photograph" has the meaning
- 42 ascribed to it in NRS 483.125.



1 **Sec. 16.** NRS 483.850 is hereby amended to read as follows:

2 483.850 1. Every application for an identification card must
3 be made upon a form provided by the Department and include,
4 without limitation:

5 (a) The applicant's:

6 (1) Full ~~Legal~~ name.

7 (2) Date of birth.

8 (3) State of legal residence.

9 (4) Current address of principal residence and mailing
10 address, if different from his or her address of principal residence, in
11 this State, unless the applicant is on active duty in the military
12 service of the United States.

13 (b) A statement from:

14 (1) A resident stating that he or she does not hold a valid
15 driver's license or identification card from any state or jurisdiction;
16 or

17 (2) A seasonal resident stating that he or she does not hold a
18 valid Nevada driver's license.

19 2. When the form is completed, the applicant must sign the
20 form and verify the contents before a person authorized to
21 administer oaths.

22 3. An applicant who has been issued a social security number
23 must provide to the Department for inspection:

24 (a) An original card issued to the applicant by the Social
25 Security Administration bearing the social security number of the
26 applicant; or

27 (b) Other proof acceptable to the Department bearing the social
28 security number of the applicant, including, without limitation,
29 records of employment or federal income tax returns.

30 4. At the time of applying for an identification card, an
31 applicant may, if eligible, register to vote pursuant to NRS 293.524.

32 5. A person who possesses a driver's license or identification
33 card issued by another state or jurisdiction who wishes to apply for
34 an identification card pursuant to this section shall surrender to the
35 Department the driver's license or identification card issued by the
36 other state or jurisdiction at the time the person applies for an
37 identification card pursuant to this section.

38 **Sec. 17.** NRS 483.860 is hereby amended to read as follows:

39 483.860 1. Every applicant for an identification card must
40 furnish proof of his or her full ~~Legal~~ name and age by presenting:

41 (a) An original or certified copy of the required documents as
42 prescribed by regulation; or

43 (b) A photo identification card issued by the Department of
44 Corrections pursuant to NRS 209.511.

45 2. The Director shall adopt regulations:



1 (a) Prescribing the documents an applicant may use to furnish
2 proof of his or her full ~~legal~~ name and age to the Department
3 pursuant to paragraph (a) of subsection 1 ~~1~~, *including, without*
4 *limitation, a document issued by the Department pursuant to*
5 *section 5 or 6 of this act;* and

6 (b) Setting forth criteria pursuant to which the Department will
7 issue or refuse to issue an identification card in accordance with this
8 section to a person who is a citizen of a state, the District of
9 Columbia, any territory of the United States or a foreign country.
10 The criteria pursuant to which the Department shall issue or refuse
11 to issue an identification card to a citizen of a foreign country must
12 be based upon the purpose for which that person is present within
13 the United States.

14 3. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, the
15 Department shall not accept a consular identification card as proof
16 of the age or identity of an applicant for an identification card. As
17 used in this subsection, "consular identification card" has the
18 meaning ascribed to it in NRS 232.006.

19 **Sec. 18.** NRS 483.870 is hereby amended to read as follows:

20 483.870 1. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 483.875, an
21 identification card that is issued to:

22 (a) A seasonal resident remains valid until its expiration date so
23 long as the person does not become licensed in Nevada to drive a
24 motor vehicle and the facts and circumstances declared in the
25 application and stated on the card do not change. An identification
26 card must be surrendered by a seasonal resident upon issuance of a
27 Nevada driver's license.

28 (b) A resident remains valid until its expiration date so long as
29 the person does not become licensed in any state or jurisdiction to
30 drive a motor vehicle and the facts and circumstances declared in
31 the application and stated on the card do not change. An
32 identification card must be surrendered by a resident upon issuance
33 of a driver's license from any state or jurisdiction.

34 2. The holder of an identification card shall promptly report
35 any change in the information declared in the application and stated
36 in the card to the Department.

37 3. Any change occurring in the holder's address ~~for name as~~
38 ~~the result of marriage or otherwise~~ or any loss of an identification
39 card must be reported within 30 days after the occurrence to the
40 Department.

41 **Sec. 19.** NRS 486.081 is hereby amended to read as follows:

42 486.081 1. Every application for a motorcycle driver's
43 license must be made upon a form furnished by the Department and
44 must be verified by the applicant before a person authorized to



1 administer oaths. Officers and employees of the Department may
2 administer those oaths without charge.

3 2. Every application must:

4 (a) State the full ~~Hegall~~ name, date of birth, sex, address of
5 principal residence and mailing address, if different from the
6 address of principal residence;

7 (b) Briefly describe the applicant;

8 (c) State whether the applicant has previously been licensed as a
9 driver, and, if so, when and by what state or country;

10 (d) State whether any such license has ever been suspended or
11 revoked, or whether an application has ever been refused, and, if so,
12 the date of and reason for such suspension, revocation or refusal;
13 and

14 (e) Give such other information as the Department requires to
15 determine the competency and eligibility of the applicant.

16 3. Every applicant shall furnish proof of his or her full ~~Hegall~~
17 name and age by displaying an original or certified copy of the
18 required documents as prescribed by regulation.

19 4. The Department shall adopt regulations prescribing the
20 documents an applicant may use to furnish proof of his or her full
21 ~~Hegall~~ name and age to the Department ~~H~~, *including, without*
22 *limitation, a document issued by the Department pursuant to*
23 *section 5 or 6 of this act.*

24 5. Every applicant who has been assigned a social security
25 number must furnish proof of the social security number by
26 displaying:

27 (a) An original card issued to the applicant by the Social
28 Security Administration bearing the social security number of the
29 applicant; or

30 (b) Other proof acceptable to the Department, including, without
31 limitation, records of employment or federal income tax returns.

32 6. The Department may refuse to accept a driver's license
33 issued by another state, the District of Columbia or any territory of
34 the United States if the Department determines that the other state,
35 the District of Columbia or the territory of the United States has less
36 stringent standards than the State of Nevada for the issuance of a
37 driver's license.

38 7. With respect to any document that has expired:

39 (a) The Department may refuse to accept the document or refuse
40 to issue a driver's license to the person presenting the document, or
41 both; and

42 (b) If the document indicates that the person is authorized to
43 stay in the United States, the Department shall issue to the person
44 presenting the document a driver's license that is valid only during
45 the time the applicant is authorized to stay in the United States, or if



1 there is no definite end to the time the applicant is authorized to
2 stay, the driver's license is valid for 1 year beginning on the date of
3 issuance.

4 8. The Director shall adopt regulations setting forth criteria
5 pursuant to which the Department will issue or refuse to issue a
6 driver's license in accordance with this section to a person who is a
7 citizen of a state, the District of Columbia, any territory of the
8 United States or a foreign country. The criteria pursuant to which
9 the Department shall issue or refuse to issue a driver's license to a
10 citizen of a foreign country must be based upon the purpose for
11 which that person is present within the United States.

12 9. Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, the
13 Department shall not accept a consular identification card as proof
14 of the age or identity of an applicant for a motorcycle driver's
15 license. As used in this subsection, "consular identification card"
16 has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 232.006.

17 **Sec. 20.** This act becomes effective:

18 1. Upon passage and approval for the purpose of adopting
19 regulations and performing any other preparatory administrative
20 tasks that are necessary to carry out the provisions of this act; and

21 2. On January 1, 2018, for all other purposes.

